

GUIDELINES ON GOOD MANUFACTURING PRACTICE FOR SURGICAL INSTRUMENTS AND APPLIANCES

National Drug Authority Head Office Rumee Towers Plot 19, Lumumba Avenue P. O. Box 23096 Kampala, Uganda. Tel: +256-417788100

Tel: +256-417788100 E-mail: ndaug@nda.or.ug Website: http://www.nda.or.ug



Citation

These guidelines shall be cited as the "Professional Guidelines on Good Manufacturing Practice for Surgical Instruments and Appliances". Doc. No. INS/GDL/047, Revision No.: 0"

Adoption and approval of these professional guidelines

In EXERCISE of the powers conferred upon the Drug Authority by Section 5(i) of the National Drug Policy and Authority Act, Cap. 206 of the Laws of Uganda (2000 Edition), the Drug Authority hereby ADOPTS and ISSUES these "Professional Guidelines on Good Manufacturing Practice for Surgical Instruments and Appliances" Doc. No. INS/GDL/047, Revision No. 0", made this 28th day of August 2023, that take effect on 6th September 2023.

Signature & Lac

Dr. Medard Bitekyerezo

CHAIRPERSON

National Drug Authority Kampala, Uganda

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 2 of 29



Table of Contents

CHAPT	ER 1 - GENERAL PROVISIONS	4
1.1.	BACKGROUND	4
1.2.	INTRODUCTION	4
1.3.	TERMS AND ACRONYMS	6
CHAPT	ER 2 - GENERAL QUALITY SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS	9
2.1.	General Provisions	9
2.2.	Management Responsibility	9
2.3.	Personnel	10
2.4.	Risk Management	11
2.5.	Purchasing Controls	11
CHAPT	ER 3 - QUALITY DOCUMENTS AND RECORDS	13
3.1.	General requirements	13
3.3.	Inspections and tests records	14
	ER 4 - DESING CONTROL AND DEVICE MASTER RECORD (DMR)	
4.1.	Design Control	
4.2.	Device master record (DMR)	
	ER 5 - PROCESS AND PRODUCTION CONTROLS	
5.1.	General Instructions	
5.2.	Controls of packaging, labeling and instructions for use	20
5.3.	Inspection and tests	
5.4.	Inspection, measurement and testing equipment	21
5.5.	Validation	22
	ER 6 - HANDLING, STORAGE, DISTRIBUITION AND TRACEABILITY	
6.1.	Handling	23
6.2.	Storage	23
6.3.	Distribution	23
6.4.	Identification and traceability	24
CHAPT	ER 7 - CORRECTIVE ACTIONS	
7.1.	Corrective and preventive actions	25
7.2.	Complaints Management	25
7.3.	Quality Audit	26
	ER 8 - INSTALLATION AND SERVICING	
	ER 9 - STATISTICAL TECHNIQUES	
	ENCES	
אטטטט	MENT REVISION HISTORY	29

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 3 of 29



CHAPTER 1 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

1.1. BACKGROUND

This guideline specifies the requirements for a quality management system where an organization needs to demonstrate its ability to provide Surgical Instruments and Appliances and related services that consistently meet customer and regulatory requirements. Such organizations can be involved in one or more stages of the life-cycle, including design and development, production, storage and distribution, installation, or servicing of a Surgical Instrument and Appliance and design and development or provision of associated activities (e.g. technical support). It can also be used by suppliers or external parties that provide product, including quality management system-related services to such organizations.

Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) is a system for ensuring that products are consistently produced and controlled according to quality standards. It is designed to minimize the risks involved in any pharmaceutical production that cannot be eliminated through testing the final product.

Current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) requirements are set forth in this guideline. These requirements govern the methods used in, and the facilities and controls used for, the design, manufacture, packaging, labelling, storage, installation, and servicing of all finished Surgical Instruments and appliances. They are intended to ensure that finished instruments and appliances will be safe and effective and in compliance with regulatory requirements.

These guidelines are intended to provide guidance to an organization or manufacturer dealing with Surgical Instruments and appliances, on how to comply with GMP and shall form the basis of GMP inspection by NDA.

1.2. INTRODUCTION

1.2.1. The Mandate

National Drug Authority (NDA) is a regulatory body established by the National Drug Policy and Authority Act (Cap. 206) to ensure availability, at all times, of essential, efficacious and cost-effective drugs to the entire population of Uganda, as a means of providing satisfactory health care and safeguarding the appropriate use of drugs. In line with the above mandate, NDA regulates the manufacture, importation, exportation and distribution of Surgical Instruments and appliances within the provisions of the National Drug Policy and Authority

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 4 of 29



(Surgical Instruments and Surgical appliances) Regulations, 2019 and National Drug Policy and Authority (Registration) Regulations, 2014.

NDA recognizes the medical devices quality management systems requirements of the ISO 13485:2016 standard as the basis for the regulated medical devices current good manufacturing practices (cGMP). However, compliance with ISO 13485: 2016 does not replace the Authority's regulatory requirement of cGMP.

1.2.2. Objective of these guidelines

The objective of this guideline is to provide requirements for current Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) during design and development, manufacture, storage, distribution, installation or servicing of surgical instruments and appliances.

These guidelines shall form the basis of GMP inspection by NDA as one of the requirements for registration of Surgical Instruments and appliances in Uganda.

1.2.3. Policy

The National Drug Policy and Authority Act Cap. 206 of the laws of Uganda, Sections 64 1(g) provides for regulating, restricting or prohibiting the importation, sale or advertising of surgical instruments and appliances;

The Minister may, on the advice of the drug authority, by statutory instrument, make regulations generally for better carrying into effect the provisions of this Act; regulating, restricting or prohibiting the importation, sale or advertising of surgical instruments and appliances;

These guidelines are developed in accordance with the; The National Drug Policy and Authority (Surgical Instruments & Surgical appliances) Regulations, 2019: regulation 20(5): "The Authority shall, ascertain that the manufacturing facility complies with accepted GMP guidelines adopted by the Authority."

1.2.4. Scope

These guidelines shall be used for GMP inspections of all local and foreign manufacturers of surgical instruments and appliances whose products are registered or subjected to registration in Uganda.

The guidelines establish requirements applicable to the manufacture of Surgical Instruments and appliances including in vitro diagnostics. These requirements describe the Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) for methods and controls used in the design, purchasing, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, storage,

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 5 of 29



Safe Drugs Save Lives

distribution, installation, and servicing. The requirements of this guideline are intended to ensure that these appliances are safe and effective.

The requirements of this guideline are applicable to manufacturers and importers of appliances that are marketed in Uganda.

Whenever the manufacturer understands that some of the requirements of this resolution are not applicable to its processes, it shall document the justification for such understanding.

1.3. **TERMS AND ACRONYMS**

Complaints: written, oral or electronic communication regarding the nonacceptance of identity, quality, durability, reliability, safety, effectiveness or performance of a product.

Component: raw material, substance, piece, part, software, hardware, package, label or instructions for use, used during the manufacture of a medical device and in vitro diagnostic device, intended to be included as part of the finished product.

Damage: physical lesion or injury to the health of a person, or injury to property or environment.

Design history file: compilation of documents containing the full design history of a finished product.

Design input: descriptions of physical attributes, indication of use, performance, compatibility, safety, efficacy, ergonomics, usability, information from previous designs and results of risk management, among other requirements of a medical device or in vitro diagnostic device that are used as the basis for the design.

Design output: result of the work in each phase of the design and its final result. The finished design output is the basis for the device master record (DMR).

Design Review: documented, systematic and complete examination performed during the design development to assess the suitability to the planning and the objectives established.

Device history record: compilation of records containing the full production history of a finished product.

Device master record (DMR): compilation of documents containing specifications, instructions and procedures for obtaining a finished product, as well as installation, servicing and maintenance of the same.

Establish: define, document (by written or electronic means) and implement.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 6 of 29



Executive Management: high management of the company, responsible for providing resources, with authority to establish or amend the policy and the quality system of the company.

Finished product: any product or accessory suitable for use, packaged, labeled.

Hazard: Potential source of harm.

Lot or batch: quantity of a product produced in a manufacturing or sterilization cycle, whose fundamental feature is the homogeneity.

Manufacture material: material or substance employed in the process of manufacture or to facilitate this process, including cleaning agents, mold detach agents, lubricating oils, sterilizing agents, or other byproducts of the manufacturing process.

Manufacturer: any person who designs, manufacture, assemble or process a finished product, including those who perform functions by contract for sterilizing, labeling, packaging.

Non-conformity: failure to comply with a previously specified requirement.

Production: all operations involved in the manufacture of a particular product, from receipt of components, through processing and packaging, up to obtaining the finished product.

Quality audit: means an established, systematic, and independent examination of the manufacturer quality system, that runs at regular intervals and with sufficient frequency to ensure that both the activities of the quality system and its results meet the procedures specified in its quality system, that these procedures are efficiently implemented and that are suitable for achieving the goals of the quality system. The quality audit is different from other activities of the quality system required by this quideline.

Quality policy: all intentions and guidelines of an organization, with respect to quality, expressed by the executive management.

Quality system: organizational structure, responsibilities, procedures, specifications, processes and resources needed for quality management.

Quality: all aspects and characteristics enabling a medical device or in vitro diagnostic device to meet the requirements of use suitability, including safety and performance.

Record: physical or electronic document, which evidence data, facts, specific events and results achieved in relation to compliance of procedures and standards of the quality system.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 7 of 29



Rework: partial or total manufacturing operation intended to correct a non-conformity of a component, intermediate product or finished product, so that it meets the specifications defined in the DMR

Risk Management: systematic application of policies, procedures and practices of managing analysis, assessments, controls, and monitoring of risks associated with a particular finished product or process.

Risk: combination between probability of occurrence and severity of damage.

Serial number or batch: combination of different letters or numbers, or both, from which can be determined the full history of purchasing, manufacturing, packaging, labeling and distribution of finished products.

Servicing: Maintenance or repair of a finished product in order to return it to its specifications.

Shelf life: period of time estimated by the manufacturer during which the product correctly meets the functions to which it was designed.

Special process: any process whose outcome cannot be fully verified by inspections and subsequent tests.

Specifications: requirements to which products, components, production activities, servicing, services, quality system or any other activity shall conform.

Surgical Instruments and appliance: Surgical Instruments and appliances; means a specialized tool or implement for performing specific actions or tasks during surgery or to relieve a particular medical condition.

Validation: confirmation by analysis and objective evidence that the requirement s defined for a particular purpose consistently lead to the expected result. With respect to a design, it means to establish and document objective evidences that the product specifications meet the needs of the user and the intended use. With respect to a process, it means to establish and document objective evidence that the process will consistently produce a result that meets the predefined specifications.

Verifications: confirmation by analysis and submittal of objective evidences that the specified requirements have been met. The verification includes the process of examining the results of an activity to determine the compliance to the specifications established.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 8 of 29



CHAPTER 2 - GENERAL QUALITY SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS

2.1. General Provisions

- 2.1.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain a quality system to ensure that the requirements of this guideline are met and that the products produced are safe, effective and appropriate for the intended use. As part of the activities in the quality system, each manufacturer shall:
- 2.1.1.1. Establish and maintain effective procedures and instructions of the quality system according to the requirements of this guideline, and
- 2.1.1.2. Establish procedures for meeting the established legal provisions in the National Drug Policy and Authority Act, Cap. 206.

2.2. Management responsibility

- 2.2.1. Quality Policy. The executive management of each manufacturer shall establish its quality policy and objectives, which shall be measurable and coherent with the established policy. The executive management shall keep the policy at all levels of the organization. The executive management shall ensure that this policy is described in a quality manual and understood by all the employees that may affect or influence the product quality.
- 2.2.2. Organization. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain an appropriate organizational structure, represented by organization chart, with sufficient personnel to ensure that the products are manufactured in accordance with the requirements of this guideline.
- 2.2.3. Responsibility and Authority. Each manufacturer shall establish at each chapter of this Guideline, the responsibility, authority, and interrelationships of all personnel involved with managing, performing, and checking the work related to quality, with the necessary independence to perform their responsibilities.
- 2.2.4. Resources and personnel for verification activities. Each manufacturer shall establish functions for verification activities and provide appropriate resources and designated trained personnel to perform the activities of verification.
- 2.2.5. Management Representative. The executive management of each manufacturer shall designate an individual and document this designation, which, regardless of other functions, will have authority and responsibility to:

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 9 of 29



- 2.2.5.1. Ensure that quality system requirements are established and maintained in accordance with this guideline;
- 2.2.5.2. Report the performance of the quality system to the executive management for review and provide information on improvements of the quality system.
- 2.2.6. Management review. The executive management of each manufacturer shall evaluate the suitability and effectiveness of the quality system at defined intervals and sufficient frequency to ensure that the quality system meets the requirements of this Guideline and complies with the objectives of the quality policy established. The management review shall be conducted according to established review procedures and the results of each quality system review shall be documented. Audit results, post-market information, process performance and product conformity, status of corrective and preventive actions, changes that may affect the quality system or product conformity, regulatory requirements, and other data shall be considered as inputs for management reviews.

2.3. Personnel

- 2.3.1. General instructions. Each manufacturer shall have sufficient personnel with education, expertise, training and practice compatible with the attributes of the function, in order to ensure that all the activities provided for in this guideline are properly performed. The authority, responsibility and requirements necessary for the various functions of the company shall be documented.
- 2.3.2. Training. Each manufacturer shall ensure that all personnel are adequately trained to perform the tasks assigned to them. Training shall be conducted in accordance with procedures established by qualified persons to ensure that employees have a proper understanding of their regular functions and of the requirements of these guidelines applicable to their functions. As part of their training, all employees shall be warned of defects in products that may occur as a result of improper performance of their specific functions. The employee training shall be documented.
- 2.3.3. Consultants. Each manufacturer shall ensure that any consultant guiding employees on methods or controls used for designing, purchasing, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, storage, installation or servicing of products have sufficient qualifications (instructions, training and expertise) to advise on matters for which he/she was hired. The hiring of consultants will be conducted in accordance with the requirements of purchase control provided for in this guideline.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 10 of 29



2.4. Risk Management

- 2.4.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain an ongoing process of risk management which involves the entire product lifecycle, from conception to decommission, to identify the hazards associated with a surgical instrument or appliance or in vitro diagnostic device, to estimate and evaluate the risks involved, to control the risks and evaluate the effectiveness of established controls. This program shall include but shall not be limited to the following elements: analysis, assessment, control and risk monitoring.
- 2.4.2. The executive management shall designate responsible personnel, establish the policy to determine the risk acceptability criteria, and determine a periodic review of risk management activities to ensure their adequacy and effectiveness.

2.5. Purchasing Controls

- 2.5.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that the components, manufacturing materials, and finished products manufactured, processed, labeled, and packaged by third parties or stored by them under contract, comply with the specifications. Each manufacturer shall also ensure that the services performed by third parties comply with the established specifications.
- 2.5.2. Assessment of suppliers of products and services. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain, according to the impact on the quality of the final product, criteria for assessing suppliers, specifying the requirements, including quality requirements, which they shall meet.
- 2.5.3. Each manufacturer shall evaluate and select potential suppliers according to their ability to meet established requirements, keeping records of approved suppliers. Assessment records shall be kept, as well as their results.
- 2.5.4. Purchase records. Each manufacturer shall maintain records of purchase orders that clearly describe or make reference to specifications, including quality requirements for components, manufacturing materials, finished products or services requested or contracted. The approval of orders, including the date and manual or electronic signature of the personnel responsible, shall be documented.
- 2.5.5. An agreement shall be documented in which the suppliers undertake to notify the manufacturer about any change in the product or service, so that the

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 11 of 29



manufacturer can determine if the change affects the quality of the finished product.

2.5.6. Each manufacturer shall review and approve the purchase documents before their release.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 12 of 29



CHAPTER 3 - QUALITY DOCUMENTS AND RECORDS

3.1. General requirements

- 3.1.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures for document control to ensure that all documents required in this guideline are correct and appropriate for the intended use, and are understood by all employees who may affect or influence the quality of a product.
- 3.1.2. Approval and issuance of documents. Each manufacturer shall designate persons to evaluate and approve all documents established in this Guideline for adequacy before their issuance. The approval, including date and manual or electronic signature of the personnel responsible for approving the documents shall be documented.
- 3.1.3. Distribution of documents. The manufacturer shall ensure that all documents are updated and available at the sites of use and that all unnecessary or obsolete documents are removed from use, or protected from unintentional use.
- 3.1.4. Changes to documents. Changes to specifications, methods or procedures related to the quality system shall be evaluated, documented, reviewed, and approved by persons whose function and level of responsibility is equivalent to those who performed the original revision and approval.
- 3.1.5. Records of changes to documents. Each manufacturer shall maintain records of changes to documents, including a description of the change, identification of the changed documents and the impacted documents, identification of the personnel responsible, date of approval and date on which the change shall enter into force. A list of valid documents shall be maintained in order to identify their current status and ensure that only updated and approved documents are in use.
- 3.1.6. Documents and Records Archive. All quality documents and records shall be legible and be stored so as to minimize damage, prevent losses, and promote quick recovery. All documents and records electronically filed shall have backups.
- 3.1.6.1. Confidentiality. The documents and records considered as confidential by the manufacturer may be marked to alert National Drug Authority.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 13 of 29



3.1.6.2. Period of retention of documents and records: all the required documents and records related to a product shall be maintained for a period of time equivalent to the shelf life of the product, but in no case less than two years from the date of its distribution.

3.2. Device history record

- 3.2.1. Each manufacturer shall maintain device history records. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that the device history records are kept for each batch or series to demonstrate the products were manufactured according to the device master record and the requirements of this guideline. The device history record shall contain or make reference to the following information:
- 3.2.1.1. Manufacture Date;
- 3.2.1.2. Components used;
- 3.2.1.3. Quantity manufactured;
- 3.2.1.4. Results of tests and inspections;
- 3.2.1.5. Special processes parameters;
- 3.2.1.6. Quantity released for distribution;
- 3.2.1.7. Labeling:
- 3.2.1.8. Identification of serial number or batch of the device; and
- 3.2.1.9. Final release of the device.

3.3. Inspections and tests records

3.3.1. Each manufacturer shall maintain records of results of established tests and inspections, when directly related to critical quality attributes of the product. These records shall include acceptance criteria, results, equipment / instruments used, and date and manual or electronic signature of the responsible.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 14 of 29



CHAPTER 4 - DESING CONTROL AND DEVICE MASTER RECORD (DMR)

4.1. Design Control

- 4.1.1. General Instructions. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to control product design to ensure that the specified requirements for the design are met.
- 4.1.2. Design planning and development. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain plans that describe or make reference to design and development activities and the responsible for each activity. The plans shall describe or make reference to design development activities, including any interaction between different organizational and technical groups that may have some interface with the design. The plans shall be evaluated, updated, and approved as the design development progresses.
- 4.1.3. Design input. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that the requirements relating to a product are appropriate and meet its intended use, including the needs of the user and patient and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Procedures shall include a mechanism by which incomplete, ambiguous or conflicting requirements are identified and handled. The design input shall be documented, evaluated and approved by a designated qualified person. The approval of requirements, including the date and manual or electronic signature of the responsible for the approval, shall be documented.
- 4.1.4. Design verification. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures for product design verification. The design verification shall be performed by designated personnel and shall ensure that the design output meets the input. The results of design verification, including the identification of the design verified, verification methods, date and name of the person responsible for the verification, shall be documented in the design history file.
- 4.1.5. Design output. Each manufacturer shall establish and document the design output in order to allow the assessment of design's compliance to the requirements established as input. The design output shall meet the requirements of the input, and shall include the acceptance criteria and identify the design features that are fundamental to the intended use of the product. These shall be documented, reviewed and approved prior to release.
- 4.1.6. Design Review. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that the assessments of design results are planned, conducted and

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 15 of 29



documented in the various stages of design development. The procedures shall ensure that representatives from all functions directly related to the design stage being reviewed, as well as the individuals from related areas and experts needed, are involved. The results of design review shall be documented in the device history record.

- 4.1.7. Design Transfer. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that the product design is correctly translated into production specifications.
- 4.1.8. Design validation. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain a procedure to validate the product design. The design validation shall be performed under pre-determined operation conditions, in the initial production of a batch or unit. The design validation shall ensure that the product meets the needs of the user and indication of use, and shall include tests of the products under real or simulated conditions of use. The design validation shall include software validation when appropriate. The results of design validation, including its identification, methods, data and manual signature of the responsible shall be documented in the design history file. Stability studies shall be conducted whenever applicable.
- 4.1.9. Design release. Each manufacturer shall ensure the design will not be released for production until its approval by the persons assigned by the manufacturer. The persons assigned shall review all records required to the design history file in order to ensure it is complete and the final design is compatible with the approved plans, prior to its release. This release, including date and manual or electronic signature of the responsible shall be documented.
- 4.1.10. Design changes. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to identify, document, validate, review and approve design changes before its implementation, including an assessment of the risks within the risk management process.
- 4.1.11. Design history file. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain a design history file for each product. The design history file shall contain or make reference to all records necessary to demonstrate that the design was developed in accordance to the approved design plan and the requirements of this guideline.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 16 of 29



4.2. Device master record (DMR)

- 4.2.1. Each manufacturer shall maintain device master records (DMR's). The DMR for each type of product shall include or refer to the following information:
- 4.2.1.1. Product specifications, including the corresponding drawings, composition, formula, components specifications, and software design specifications, and its source codes;
- 4.2.1.2. Production process specifications, including infrastructure specifications, equipment, production methods and instructions, and environmental specifications of production;
- 4.2.1.3. Packaging and labeling specifications, including methods and processes used;
- 4.2.1.4. Procedures for inspecting and testing with the respective acceptance criteria;
- 4.2.1.5. Methods and procedures for installation, maintenance, and servicing.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 17 of 29



CHAPTER 5 - PROCESS AND PRODUCTION CONTROLS

5.1. General Instructions

- 5.1.1. Each manufacturer shall design, conduct, control and monitor all production processes in order to ensure that the products comply with the specifications. Where any deviation in the product specifications may occur as a result of the manufacturing process, the manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures of process control, which describe any process controls necessary to ensure compliance to the specification. The process controls shall include:
- 5.1.1.1. Documented instructions, standard operating procedures, and methods defining and controlling the method of production, installation and maintenance:
- 5.1.1.2. Monitoring and control of process parameters;
- 5.1.1.3. Compliance to technical rules, standards or reference codes; and
- 5.1.1.4. Instructions for releasing the beginning of the process;
- 5.1.2. The company facilities shall be properly designed to provide the performance of all operations, to prevent exchanges or contamination of components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products, and finished products, and ensure the proper handling thereof, including proper flow of people.
- 5.1.3. Environmental Control. Each manufacturer shall provide appropriate environmental conditions to production operations in order to prevent contamination or other adverse effects on the product. The correct functioning of established environmental control systems shall be monitored, keeping the corresponding records.
- 5.1.3.1. Clean and sanitization. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain appropriate cleaning and sanitization procedures, as well as a program that meet the requirements of manufacturing process specifications. Each manufacturer shall ensure that the employees involved understand these procedures.
- 5.1.3.2. Personal health and hygiene. Each manufacturer shall ensure that the employees and or others who are in contact with the product or with the environment are clean, healthy, and appropriately dressed for the activity to be performed. Any person who, by medical examination or observation of

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 18 of 29



supervisors, seems to be in a health condition that may affect the product, shall be removed from the operations. Each manufacturer shall instruct the personnel to report such conditions to the supervisors.

- 5.1.3.3. Personnel habits. Each manufacturer shall limit the consumption of foods and beverages to specific locations in order not to affect the production areas.
- 5.1.3.4. Contamination control. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to prevent the contamination of equipment, components, manufacturing materials, intermediates and finished products by cleaning and disinfection materials, including hazardous substances or contaminants generated by the production process. A pest control program shall be established, and whenever chemical agents are used, the company shall ensure they do not affect the product quality.
- 5.1.3.5. Removal of garbage and chemical waste. The treatment and destination of garbage, chemical wastes and by-products shall occur in accordance with the applicable legislation in force.
- 5.1.3.6. Biological safety standards shall be observed in the cases where there is biological risk.
- 5.1.4. Worker health. Each manufacturer shall ensure the compliance to applicable standards related to the health of workers, including the use of personal protective equipment, which is compatible with the labor processes performed.
- 5.1.5. Equipment. Each manufacturer shall ensure that all equipment used in the manufacturing process are appropriate for the intended use and properly designed, constructed, and installed to facilitate the maintenance, adjustments, cleaning and use.
- 5.1.5.1. Maintenance program. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain a program for maintenance, adjustments, and, when appropriate, cleaning of equipment to ensure that all manufacturing specifications are being achieved. The maintenance program shall be in a place of easy access to the personnel responsible for the maintenance and use of the equipment. A record of the maintenance activities shall be performed, with date of performance and identification of the persons in charge.
- 5.1.5.2. Adjustments. Each manufacturer shall ensure that any acceptable tolerances or inherent limitations are attached in a visible place or near the equipment requiring periodic adjustment, or are easily available to the personnel in charge of these adjustments.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 19 of 29



- 5.1.5.3. Manufacturing materials. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures for use and removal of manufacturing materials, to ensure that such materials are removed from the product or limited to a specified amount that does not adversely affect the product quality.
- 5.1.6. Special processes shall be conducted in accordance with established procedures and parameters in order to assure the compliance to the specifications. The critical parameters shall be monitored and recorded in the device history record.
- 5.1.7 Building. The building infrastructure is required to be suitably designed with sufficient work space to achieve conformity to product requirements, to prevent mix-ups and to assure orderly handling of product. It is also required that the building infrastructure is appropriately qualified and maintained.

5.2. Controls of packaging, labeling and instructions for use

- 5.2.1. Product packaging. Each manufacturer shall establish procedures for product packaging in order to protect the product from any change, damage or contamination during the processing, storage, handling, and distribution processes.
- 5.2.2. Product labeling
- 5.2.2.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure the integrity and prevent accidental mixing of labels, instructions for use, packaging materials or identification tags.
- 5.2.2.2. Each manufacturer shall ensure that labels are designed, printed, and, if applicable, applied so as to remain legible and attached to the product during processing, storage, handling, and use steps.
- 5.2.2.3. Inspection of labels and instructions for use. The labels and instructions for use shall not be released for use until an authorized person has examined their compliance to the information contained therein. The approval, including date, name and manual or electronic signature of the responsible, shall be documented in the device history record.

5.3. Inspection and tests

5.3.1. General Instructions. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures for inspections, tests or other means of verification, so as to ensure compliance to the specified requirements in the entire production chain. The results of the acceptance activities during the receipt of components and manufacturing

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 20 of 29



materials, as well as intermediate production stages and final acceptance of the finished product, shall be documented, including its conclusion (accepted or rejected).

- 5.3.2. The authority and responsibility for such activities shall be defined by the manufacturer.
- 5.3.3. The components and manufacturing materials received, as well as components, intermediate products, and returned products shall not be used or processed until the verification of their compliance to the requirements. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures for the retention of components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products, and returned products until the inspections, tests or other verification have been completed and documented.
- 5.3.4. The finished products shall not be released until the activities specified in the DMR have been completed and until the documentation and the associated data have been reviewed by a person assigned to ensure that all acceptance criteria have been met. The release, including the date and manual or electronic signature of the responsible shall be documented.

5.4. Inspection, measurement and testing equipment

- 5.4.1. Each manufacturer shall ensure that all measurement and testing equipment, including mechanical, automated or electronic equipment, are suitable for its intended purposes and are capable of producing valid results. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that equipment is routinely calibrated, inspected and controlled. The measurement equipment shall be identified so as the calibration status can be determined.
- 5.4.2. Calibration. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain calibration procedures that include special guides and precision and accuracy limits, as well as prescriptions for corrective actions when the precision and accuracy limits are not achieved. The calibration shall be performed by personnel who have the necessary instruction, training, practice and expertise.
- 5.4.3. Calibration standards. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain calibration standards for measurement equipment that are traceable to the official national or international standards. If there is no applicable standard available, the manufacturer shall establish and maintain its own standard.
- 5.4.4. Calibration records. Each manufacturer shall ensure the maintenance of calibration records, including dates, measurements obtained, employee in charge of this task, and the next date for this operation. Records shall be maintained by the

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 21 of 29



manufacturer and shall be available for the personnel using this equipment and for those responsible for calibrating it.

- 5.4.5. Maintenance. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that the handling, preservation, and custody of equipment for testing, measuring, and inspecting are performed in order to preserve its precision and suitability for use.
- 5.4.6. Facilities. Each manufacturer shall protect the facilities and equipment for inspection, testing, and measurement, including hardware and test software, from adjustments that would invalidate the calibration.
- 5.4.7. The manufacturer shall establish procedures to assess the impact of results from previous measurements when identifying non-conformities in testing and measurement equipment. The result of the assessment shall be documented.

5.5. Validation

- 5.5.1. Special processes shall be validated according to previously established protocols. The results of validations, including the date and identification of the responsible for the approval shall be recorded.
- 5.5.2. Analytical methods, auxiliary systems supporting the processes or environmental control, automated computerized systems, and software that may adversely affect the quality of the product or the quality system shall be validated.
- 5.5.3. The manufacturer shall establish procedures to periodically verify their processes, analytical methods, auxiliary systems supporting the processes and environment control, automated computerized systems, and validated software, and, when applicable, to establish the frequency for revalidation.
- 5.6. Change control. The manufacturer shall establish procedures for change control in order to control the changes in auxiliary systems, software, equipment, processes, methods or other changes that may influence the quality of the products, including a risk assessment within the risk management process.
- 5.6.1. The procedure shall describe the actions to be taken, including, when appropriate, the need to re -qualify or revalidate.
- 5.6.2. The changes shall be formally requested, documented and approved before their implementation.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 22 of 29



CHAPTER 6 - HANDLING, STORAGE, DISTRIBUITION AND TRACEABILITY

6.1. Handling

- 6.1.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure inversions (exchanges), damages, deterioration or other adverse effects affecting components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products, finished products, and samples for quality control do not occur during any stage of handling.
- 6.1.2. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to identify the compliance of components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products, and finished products, in order to ensure that only those duly approved are used or distributed.
- 6.1.3. The procedures shall ensure that when the quality or condition of suitable for use of a component, manufacturing material, intermediate product or finished product, deteriorate over time, they are not used or distributed.
- 6.1.4. The procedures shall ensure that components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products or finished products nearest the expiry date are distributed or used firstly, and those out of the expiry date are not distributed or used.

6.2. Storage

6.2.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to identify the components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products, finished products, and samples for quality control, in order to prevent inversions (exchanges). These shall be stored in physical and environmental conditions that prevent damages, deterioration or other adverse effects during the period of storage.

6.3. Distribution

- 6.3.1. Each manufacturer shall maintain distribution records, including or making reference to:
- 6.3.1.1. Names and addresses of the consignee;
- 6.3.1.2. Identification and amount of products shipped, with shipment date; and
- 6.3.1.3. Any numerical control used for traceability.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 23 of 29



6.4. Identification and traceability

- 6.4.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures for identifying components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products, and finished products during all stages of storage, production, distribution and installation in order to prevent confusion and to ensure the correct order fulfillment.
- 6.4.2. Each manufacturer shall identify each unit, batch or lot of products with a serial or batch number. This identification shall be recorded in the device history record.
- 6.5. Non-conforming components and products
- 6.5.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products, finished products, and returned products, which do not comply with the requirements, are not installed or used inadvertently. The procedures shall contain prescriptions to identify, document, evaluate, segregate, and dispose non-conforming components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products, and finished products. The assessment of non-conformity shall include the need for investigation and notification of those people and organizations involved in such non-conformity. The results of assessments and eventual investigations shall be recorded.
- 6.5.2. The responsibility for the review and the authority for the decision on non-conforming components, manufacturing materials, intermediate products, finished products, and returned products shall be defined. The review and decision process shall be described in an established procedure. The decision shall be documented and the record of the rationale and manual or electronic signature(s) of the responsible(s) shall be kept. In case of authorization of use, the decision shall be based on risk assessment technically justifiable.
- 6.5.3. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures for re-work, reinspection, and re-assessment of intermediate or finished products after re-work, to ensure that they meet the original specifications. The activities related to re-work and re-assessment of the product, including problems resulting from re-work, shall be documented in the device history record.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 24 of 29



CHAPTER 7 - CORRECTIVE ACTIONS

7.1. Corrective and preventive actions

- 7.1.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to:
- 7.1.1.1. Analyze processes, work operations, quality audit reports, quality records, servicing records, complaints, returned products, and other sources of quality data in order to identify existing and potential sources of non conformities related to the product, process or quality system. When applicable, the analysis shall be based on valid statistical technique to detect recurrent quality problems;
- 7.1.1.2. Investigate the source of non-conformities related to the product, process or quality system;
- 7.1.1.3. Identify and implement the necessary actions to prevent the occurrence, to correct the event, and to prevent the recurrence of non-conformities;
- 7.1.1.4. Verify or validate the effectiveness of the corrective action to ensure it does not adversely affect the product. For this purpose, any changes made, when applicable, shall observe change control procedures and validation protocols established;
- 7.1.1.5. Record activities related to corrective and preventive actions;
- 7.1.1.6. Ensure the information concerning quality issues or non-conforming products are properly disseminated to those directly involved in the maintenance of product quality or in preventing the occurrence of such problems;
- 7.1.1.7. Submit relevant information on quality issues identified, and preventive and corrective actions, to the executive management for information and monitoring, as well as the competent health authority, when applicable;
- 7.1.1.8. Determine product recalls and other field actions that are relevant for products already distributed.

7.2. Complaints Management

- 7.2.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to receive, examine, evaluate, investigate, and file complaints. Such procedures shall ensure that:
- 7.2.1.1. Complaints are received, documented, examined, evaluated, investigated, and filed by a formally designated unit;
- 7.2.1.2. When applicable, the complaints are notified to the competent health authority;
- 7.2.1.3. Complaints are examined to evaluate whether an investigation is necessary. When no investigation is performed, the unit shall maintain a record including the reason

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 25 of 29



why the investigation has not been performed and the name of the responsible for the decision to not investigate;

- 7.2.1.4. Each manufacturer shall examine, evaluate, and investigate all complaints involving possible product non-conformity. Any complaints related to death, injury or threaten to public health shall be immediately reviewed, evaluated and investigated.
- 7.2.1.5. When an investigation is performed, a record shall be kept, containing the following information:
- 7.2.1.5.1. Product name;
- 7.2.1.5.2. Date of receipt of the complaint;
- 7.2.1.5.3. Any control number used;
- 7.2.1.5.4. Name, address and telephone number of the claimant;
- 7.2.1.5.5. Nature of the complaint; and
- 7.2.1.5.6. Date and investigation results, including the actions taken.

7.3. Quality Audit

- 7.3.1. Each manufacturer shall conduct and document quality audits to assess the quality system compliance to the requirements established.
- 7.3.2. Quality audits shall be conducted by trained persons, according to audit procedures established, with no direct responsibility for the matters being audited.
- 7.3.3. Those responsible for the audited areas shall be notified on non-conformities identified.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 26 of 29



CHAPTER 8 - INSTALLATION AND SERVICING

- 8.1. Installation. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain appropriate instructions and procedures to correctly install the products. When the manufacturer or his authorized representative installs a product, it shall be verified for operation according to established criteria. The results of this verification shall be recorded. The manufacturer shall ensure the installation instructions and procedures are distributed along with the product or otherwise available to the responsible for installing the product.
- 8.2. Servicing. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that finished products undergoing servicing by the manufacturer or his representative meet the specifications.
- 8.2.1. Servicing records. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure the servicing records are maintained and identify:
- 8.2.1.1. Product subject of service;
- 8.2.1.2. Control number used:
- 8.2.1.3. Date of service;
- 8.2.1.4. Identification of service provider;
- 8.2.1.5. Description of service performed; and
- 8.2.1.6. Results of tests and inspections for approving the service.
- 8.2.2. Each manufacturer shall regularly review the servicing records. Where the analysis identifies failure trends, which represent hazards, or records involving death or severe injury, the corrective / preventive action shall be implemented according to the requirements of this guideline.

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 27 of 29



CHAPTER 9 - STATISTICAL TECHNIQUES

- 9.1. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures for identifying valid statistical techniques to assess the performance of the quality system and capability of the process to meet the established specifications.
- 9.2. Sampling plans shall be formalized in writing and based on valid statistical logic. Each manufacturer shall establish and maintain procedures to ensure that sampling methods are adequate for their intended use and are regularly reviewed. The revision of sampling plans shall consider the occurrence of non-conformities of products, quality audit reports, complaints, and other indicators.

10. REFERENCES

Guidance On Quality Systems for the Design and Manufacture of Medical Devices
The Global Harmonization Task Force

https://www.imdrf.org/sites/default/files/docs/ghtf/final/sg3/technical-docs/ghtf-sg3-n99-8-guidance-on-guality-990629.doc

ISO 13485:2016 Quality management system requirement for Medical devices

National Drug Authority & Policy Act (Registration) Regulations, 2014 (S.I. No. 29 of 2014)

National Drug Authority & Policy Act (Surgical Instruments and appliances) Regulations, 2019 (S.I. No. 77 of 2019)

Quality System (QS) Regulation/Medical Device Good Manufacturing Practices part 820 21 CFR subchapter H- medical devices

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 28 of 29



DOCUMENT REVISION HISTORY

Date of revision	Revision	Document	Author(s)	Changes made and
	number	Number		reasons for revision
28 August 2023	0	INS/GDL/047	Author	First Issue of
			Kitimbo Brenda Clare	Document
			Reviewers Onen Solomon Dora Namyalo Peter Ssali	

End of Document

Doc. No. INS/GDL/047	Revision Date: 28 Aug. 2023	Review Due Date: 6 Sep. 2026
Revision No.: 0	Effective Date: 6 Sep. 2023	Page 29 of 29